UC Irvine

UC Irvine Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Antibody and Effector Cells Collaborate to Reduce SARS-CoV-2 Yield from Infected Cells

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/2qb6q8cs

Author

Hitchcock, Lauren T

Publication Date 2023

Copyright Information

This work is made available under the terms of a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike License, available at <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-</u> <u>sa/4.0/</u>

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, IRVINE

Antibody and Effector Cells Collaborate to Reduce SARS-CoV-2 Yield from Infected Cells THESIS

Submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements

for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in Biomedical and Translational Science

by

Lauren T. Hitchcock

Thesis Committee: Professor Donald Forthal, Chair Professor Alan Barbour Professor Robert Wilson

© 2023 Lauren T. Hitchcock

DEDICATION

To my husband, Nathan, thank you for believing in me and helping me to achieve my dreams. You are the best husband and partner I could have asked for. Your unwavering support and encouragement mean more than you could ever know. You put my needs above yours to help me further my career and I can't wait to see you earn your next degree. I'm so excited to see everything we can accomplish together. You are my favorite person, and I am so proud to call you my partner.

To my mom, Alexis, thank you for your words of encouragement, shoulder to cry on, and unconditional love. I am so thankful to have watched you grow into the remarkable person you are today, and I feel blessed to be able to grow beside you as your mini-me. I would not be where I am today without you.

To my dad, thank you for coming into my life and choosing me as your daughter. You are better than any dad I could have ever dreamt of...I expect extra kudos for this.

To my family and friends, thank you for always being by my side in the worst and best of times. I love you all and appreciate everything you have done to help me further my career and achieve my dreams.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	iv
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	v
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vii
ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS	viii
CHAPTER 1: Introduction	1
CHAPTER 2: Background	1
CHAPTER 2.1: SARS-CoV-2 Pathogenesis	2
CHAPTER 2.2: Antibody Responses and Function During Infection	3
CHAPTER 3: Methods	5
CHAPTER 3.1: Viral Propagation	5
CHAPTER 3.2: Neutralization Assay	6
CHAPTER 3.3: Donor Cell Isolation	6
CHAPTER 3.4: ADCVI Assay	7
CHAPTER 3.5: qPCR	8
CHAPTER 3.6: Analysis	9
CHAPTER 4: Results	9
CHAPTER 4.1: Neutralization Assay	9
CHAPTER 4.2: Donor Characteristics	10
CHAPTER 4.3: Viral Assay	11
CHAPTER 5: Conclusion	14
REFERENCES	16

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 SARS-CoV-2 Replication Process	3
Figure 2: FcyR mediated inhibition of virus infection	4
Figure 3: Antibody-dependent, cell-mediated virus inhibition (ADCVI) Assay	8
Figure 4: COVA1-18 neutralized cell-free SARS-CoV-2	10
Table 1: Donor Characteristics	10
Figure 5: COVA1-18 combined with monocytes lowers viral yield from infected cells	11
Figure 6: ADCVI Assay Results	12
Figure 7: Plot of COVA1-18 and COVA1-18 + Monocytes	13
Table 2: Paired T-test Analyses	13

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

mAB	: Monoclonal antibody
SARS-CoV-2	: Severe Acute Respiratory Corona Virus- 2
SARS-CoV-1	: Severe Acute Respiratory Corona Virus- 1
COVID-19	: SARS-CoV-2 infection disease
-S	: Spike protein
S1	: Spike protein subunit-1
S2	: Spike protein subunit-2
RBD	: Receptor binding domain
ACE2	: Angiotensin-converting enzyme-2
RNA	: Ribonucleic acid
AT2	: Alveolar type 2
ARDS	: Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome
Ig-	: Immunoglobulin
Anti-	: Antibody against protein
FcγR	: Fc gamma receptors
ADCC	: Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity
ADCP	: Antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis
NK	: Natural killer cell
COVA1-18	: IgG-S monoclonal neutralizaing antibody
ADCVI	: Antibody-dependent cell-mediated viral inhibition
BSL-3	: Biosafety level 3
PBMC	: Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
DEN3	: Dengue virus 3 IgG antibody
DMEM	: Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
P/S	: Penicillin-Streptomycin

FBS	: Fetal bovine serum
PBS	: Phosphate-buffered saline
MOI	: Multiplicity of Infection
PFA	: Paraformaldehyde
qPCR	: Quantitative polymerase chain reaction
FFA	: Focus forming assay.
SD	: Standard deviation
n	: Sample size
IC50	: Half-maximal inhibitory concentration

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

A huge thank you to Johannes Gach, without your knowledge and assistance this project would not have been possible. You have been a wonderful mentor, an encouraging coworker, and a great friend. Thank you so much for all the incredibly time-consuming work you have put in to help me achieve this accomplishment.

Dr. Donald Forthal, Dr. Alan Barbour, and Dr. Robert Willson, your assistance in this project has been invaluable. I am incredibly thankful to have you as members of my committee, thank you for believing in me and helping me through this period of growth. Each of you has been a pleasure to work with and I will forever be grateful.

Gary Landucci, you have been a wonderful supervisor and have been incredibly accommodating during my schooling. Thank you for believing in me in both my career and in my master's program. I will forever be grateful for every door you have opened and every opportunity you have given me to grow. Without your support, I would not have been as successful in this program as I was.

Dr. Sherrie Kaplan, Dr. Sheldon Greenfield, Kaelyn, and Zee, you have all been incredible throughout this journey. Thank you for your encouragement, support, and willingness to help us in any way. You have all created a welcoming and safe environment that allowed all of us to thrive. Each of you is amazing and I could not have imagined a better program to be a part of.

To my master's program cohort, I have learned so much from each and every one of you. Your views and outlook on each class discussion have allowed me to delve deep into alternate perspectives. Each of you has helped to shape me into a better person and I will be forever grateful. To Katie, Aaqil, Sultan, Eden, and Hridhay, each of you have been the best of friends and I will never forget our time together. I am so excited to see what each of you accomplish.

ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS

Antibody and Effector Cells Collaborate to Reduce SARS-CoV-2 Yield from Infected Cells By

Lauren T. Hitchcock

Master of Sciences in Biomedical and Translational Sciences

University of California, Irvine, 2023

Professor Donald Forthal, Chair

Antibodies against the SARS-CoV-2 envelope spike protein (S) are foundational for targeted therapies to reduce severity of COVID-19. Antibodies can neutralize extracellular virus and can potentially mediate other functions to inhibit virus. In this study, we determined the impact of primary human monocytes combined with COVA1-18, a SARS-CoV-2 neutralizing monoclonal antibody(mAB), on the yield of SARS-CoV-2 from infected cells. We found that antibody combined with monocytes resulted in lower viral yield than antibodies alone. Our findings suggest that enhancing interactions between mAB's and monocytes may improve the efficacy of mAB therapy for COVID-19.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Antibodies elicited by viral infections can neutralize extra-cellular viruses or kill virus-infected cells by engaging effector cells, such as monocytes or natural killer cells. Here, we hypothesize that monocytes in conjunction with neutralizing monoclonal antibody (mAB) will reduce the yield of SARS-CoV-2 from infected cells more than mAB alone. This study aims to determine if an anti-S-neutralizing mAB can engage with monocytes to produce a more potent anti-viral effect.

CHAPTER 2: BACKGROUND

In early 2020, Severe Acute Respiratory Corona Viruses (SARS-CoV-2), originating from Wuhan China in late 2019, entered the United States. This novel virus is a relative of the SARS-CoV-1 virus which made its way around the world in 2003 (1). With over 70% genetic similarities between the two SARS viruses, both viruses cause flu-like symptoms and respiratory illness (1,2). As of August 9th, 2023, there have been 769,369,823 confirmed COVID-19 cases and 6,954,336 deaths, bringing the total death rate to roughly 1% of the confirmed infected population. In the United States, there have been approximately 103,436,829 confirmed cases and 1,127,152 deaths, bringing the death rate in the United States to roughly 1.1% (2). Although the death rate is considered low, more people likely had a SARS-CoV-2 infection who either did not test, or tested at home and did not report it. Given these two limitations, it is likely that the rate of infection is much higher than the rate calculated by the WHO (2,3). SARS-CoV-2 is primarily transported through aerosols produced by respiratory secretions

released when an infected person talks, coughs, or sneezes and enters the body through the

1

mucous membranes located in the oral and nasopharynx (1-3). Virus in aerosols can travel up to six feet from the infected person to a non-infected person (1-3). The amount of virus needed to infect a human (infectious dose) is between 36 and 179 viral particles, based on non-human primate studies, (4).

In most COVID-19 cases, mild cold and flu-like symptoms include cough, sore throat, nausea/ gastrointestinal upset, shortness of breath, headache, fatigue, and fever/chills; loss of taste and smell have also been recorded with multiple variants (1-3,5). Of the confirmed cases, roughly 30% are reported to be asymptomatic, and 49% report mild to moderate disease (5,6). 21% require hospitalization due to severe disease characterized by pneumonia, which can lead to acute respiratory distress syndrome and death (7,8). An average of 6% of those hospitalized are admitted to the ICU, with admittance rates higher in persons with one or more pre-existing conditions (13%) (7).

CHAPTER 2.1: SARS-CoV-2 Pathogenesis

SARS-CoV-2 binds to human cells via its spike glycoprotein protein (S) displayed on the virus's surface. The S-protein consists of two subunits, S1 and S2 (9,10). The S1 subunit contains the receptor binding domain (RBD) which attaches to human angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 (ACE2) on the surface of susceptible cells (9,10). The S2 subunit is responsible for membrane fusion between the virus and the cell. Once fusion occurs, viral RNA is delivered into the cytoplasm, and replication of the new virus begins. The newly formed viruses are then released via exocytosis to continue the replication process (FIGURE 1) (14).



FIGURE 1: SARS-CoV-2 Replication Process. The spike protein binds to ACE2 on the surface of the host cells, after which, the virus membrane fuses with the cell membrane. The virus then replicates inside the host cell and the newly replicated virus leaves the host cell through exocytosis.

Infection begins in the upper respiratory tract and disseminates to the lower respiratory tract, infecting the alveolar type 2 (AT2) cells (9-11). This may lead to pneumonia and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) (9-11), with consequent impaired gas exchange and low blood oxygen concentration.

CHAPTER 2.2: Antibody Responses and Function During Infection

SARS-CoV-2-specific immunoglobulin (Ig) G, M, and A antibody subclasses develop in response to infection (12-15). The role of antibodies in resolving infection is unknown, but it is clear that anti-S antibodies elicited by infection or by vaccines play a role in preventing subsequent infection. Moreover, S-specific monoclonal antibody obtained from recovered individuals effectively treats and prevents infection.

Antibodies can function in multiple ways, either through direct neutralization of the virus or by interacting with effector cells (15,18,19). In the case of SARS-CoV-2, neutralization requires the antibody to bind the spike proteins on the virus's surface (12-15,18,19). This interaction can block the spike proteins from binding to the host cells' ACE2, thus neutralizing the infectivity of

the virus (12-14,18-21). In addition to neutralizing cell-free virus, IgG antibodies can inhibit virus yield from infected cells. This occurs when an antibody bound to the infected cells also binds to adjacent effector cells such as natural killer (NK) cells, monocytes, macrophages, or dendritic cells through Fc gamma receptors (Fc γ Rs) on the surface of the effector cells (19-23). The engagement of Fc γ Rs results in antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) or antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis (ADCP) (23-40). Compared to NK cell-mediated ADCC, little is published on antibody-mediated effector functions of primary monocytes in SARS-CoV-2 infection (37,38,41,42).



FIGURE 2: Fc γ R mediated inhibition of virus infection. A) Antibody bound to a virus-infected target cell via the Fab fragment and Fc γ R on an effector cell via the Fc fragment of the antibody. B) Antibody-dependent cell cytotoxicity (ADCC) results in target cell death. C) Antibody-dependent cell-mediated phagocytosis (ADCP) results in the internalization of the infected cell.

Since neutralization acts only on cell-free virus, antibody activities that impact the cells that produce the virus could have a more significant overall anti-viral effect. We sought to determine the effect of antibody combined with $Fc\gamma R$ -bearing effector cells on reducing viral yield from SARS-CoV-2 infected cells.

CHAPTER 3: METHODS

All work including live SARS-CoV-2 virus was completed in the Biosafety Level 3 (BSL-3) facility at the University of California, Irvine.

CHAPTER 3.1: Viral Propagation

The Washington strain SARS-CoV-2, obtained from Microbiologics (Live SARS-2 WA-1/2020), was used for virus propagation. SARS-CoV-2 was grown using VeroE6 cells in tissue culture flasks (10e6 cells in a T-75 flask) at 70-80% confluency. 100uL virus was added to the flask with 1.9mL of media (DMEM+ P/S+L-Glutamine) without FBS and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO2 for 45 minutes. After 45 minutes, 5mL media was added to the plate and placed in the incubator for 48 hours. The virus-containing supernatant was harvested and cleared from cell debris by centrifugation. Aliquots of the virus were stored at -80°C. A focus-forming assay (FFA) was used to determine the infectious viral titer. 15uL virus was added in a 1:10 dilution to a 96-well plate of VeroE6 (10,000 cells/well) with 35uL media. A serial dilution was completed where the virus was placed into the first well, resuspended five times, and then placed into the well below with 35uL media. This was repeated until a dilution of 1:10⁻⁸ was achieved. The plate was incubated for 45 minutes before 1%MTC in DMEM+P/S+L-glutamine with a total percentage of 10% FBS. The plate was incubated at 37°C and 5% CO2 for 24 hours before media was aspirated, and all cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde. The cells were then permeated using methanol and hydrogen peroxide before being blocked in 5% non-fat dry milk in PBS for one hour. The cells were incubated with primary antibody overnight at 4°C, washed, and incubated with secondary antibody for 2 hours before being stained with KPL TrueBlueTM

5

Peroxidase that binds to plaques to quantify visually. Once stained, the cells are dried for 24 hours before being taken to the ImmunoSpot plate reader and analyzed by visually counting and recording plaques. Plaques were counted at each serial dilution, and the titer was calculated using the equation: pfu (plaque forming units)/mL= ((Avg. plaques x dilution)/volume)x 1000.

CHAPTER 3.2: Neutralization Assay

The antibody of interest for this study is the COVA1-18 anti-S neutralizing IgG mAB. VeroE6 cells were used to test the neutralization of the S specific mAB, COVA1-18. DEN3, a Dengue virus 3-specific mAB was used as a negative control. Antibodies were placed into a plate at concentrations of 50ug, 10ug, 2ug, 0.4ug, 0.08ug, and 0.016ug. All concentrations were run in triplicate in addition to virus-only control with no antibody present. COVA1-18 was incubated with Washington strain SARS-CoV-2 at an MOI of 0.062 for 45 minutes before being added to VeroE6 cells. The cells were incubated with COVA1-18 and virus supernatant for 24 hours before being fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA), incubated overnight, and processed using an FFA. Neutralization was calculated using the following equation: Neutralization =100-(# plaques obtained with a given antibody concentration/# plaques with virus only) x100. A curve was fitted to the calculated percent neutralization (FIGURE 5) where a line marks the 50% inhibitory concentration (IC50). Using the neutralization curve, it was decided that 10 ug/mL would be used for our studies, due to the higher percent neutralization.

CHAPTER 3.3: Donor Cell Isolation

For this experiment, PBMCs were frozen after isolation from each donor and subsequently thawed before use, where monocytes were then isolated. Four participants (n=4) donated blood

to the University of California, Irvine Translational Science division. All donors were confirmed to have no known immune disorders during donation. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated from healthy donors using a LymphoprepTM density gradient medium (Stemcell Technologies) according to the manufacturer's instructions. PBMCs were counted, resuspended in a freezing medium (i.e., 90% FBS and 10% DMSO), aliquoted, and stored at - 80*C for further applications. For primary monocyte isolation, PBMCs were thawed, washed, and resuspended in a monocyte isolation buffer (2% FBS and 1 mM EDTA in DPBS). Untouched monocytes (CD14++CD16-) were isolated with a classical monocyte isolation kit from Miltenyi Biotec according to the manufacturer's instructions. Cells were counted and seeded in the respective cell numbers used for the assays.

CHAPTER 3.4: ADCVI Assay

VeroE6 cells were infected with Washington strain SARS-CoV-2 virus at an MOI of 0.062 for 45 minutes and washed with PBS before adding the antibody and monocyte effector cells to the infected target cells. Multiple concentrations of the COVA1-18 mAB were used, both alone and with monocyte effector cells. Controls for this experiment included target cells infected with virus only (positive control), and monocytes without mAB in the presence of virus-infected target cells. All conditions were repeated with a negative control antibody (DEN3). Monocytes were added at an effector cell: target cell ratio of 5:1 (50,000 monocytes added to 10,000 infected VeroE6 cells). Additionally, all conditions were run in triplicate for each donor. After a 72-hour incubation period, the supernatant was collected from the plates where 90uL was inactivated using ZYMOTM DNA/RNA shield (1:1 ratio of reagent and SARS infected media), and 90uL was frozen at -20C. The remaining cells were washed with PBS, and 200uL of DMEM

Media without FBS was placed in the -80 freezer to lyse the cells. The lysed cells/media were thawed, and 90uL was collected and inactivated using the ZYMOTM DNA/RNA shield for qPCR to quantify viral load for each condition.



FIGURE 3: Antibody-dependent, cell-mediated virus inhibition (ADCVI) Assay. Blood is taken from four separate donors where effector cells (monocytes) are isolated and placed in 96-well plates with anti-S IgG antibody. Conditions measured included COVA1-18-only, COVA1-18 + monocytes, monocytes-only, virus-only, DEN3, and DEN3 + monocytes. All wells received infected VeroE6 cells and supernatant fluid was collected 72-hours later to measure viral RNA by quantitative RT-PCR.

CHAPTER 3.5: qPCR

Viral SARS-CoV-2 RNA, isolated from cell supernatant, was used as a template for the

qPCRBIO SyGreen 1-step Go kit. Quantitative PCR was carried out with SARS-CoV-2 N-

specific primers 5'-GGGGAACTTCTCCTGCTAGAAT-3' and 5'-

CAGACATTTTGCTCTCAAGCTG-3'. SARS-CoV-2 copy numbers were quantified and

reported based on a standard curve generated by serial dilutions of a SARS-CoV-2 N plasmid standard.

CHAPTER 3.6: Analysis

The percentage of viral load decrease was calculated from qPCR values using the equation: 100-(RNA copy # obtained with effector cells and antibody/RNA copy # with controls) x100. Average copy numbers and standard deviations (SD) were calculated across all donors. The viral RNA copy numbers were transformed into a logarithmic scale, and a normality test was run, which determined the data was parametric. Paired T-tests were performed, and P-values <0.05 were deemed statistically significant. There was no adjustment made for multiple comparisons. All calculations and analyses were performed using Excel and Prism. All figures were created using BioRender.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

CHAPTER 4.1: Neutralization Assay

We first determined the neutralizing activity of COVA1-18 at various concentrations (FIGURE 4). Based on the neutralization curve, the IC50 was calculated at 0.32ug/mL. The IC90 value was calculated to be 4.95ug/mL. Based on these values, further experiments utilized COVA1-18 at 10ug/mL, which neutralized 96.3% of the extracellular virus.



FIGURE 4: COVA1-18 neutralizes cell-free SARS-CoV-2. The horizontal line represents 50% neutralization.

CHAPTER 4.2: Blood Donor Characteristics

Blood was obtained for monocyte isolation from four donors consisting of three women and one man, with only one individual identifying as Asian/non-Hispanic. All other donors were classified as white/non-Hispanic. Donors' ages ranged from 25 to 35, and none reported any medications impacting immune cells or immune function. (TABLE 1). No additional information about the donors was provided.

Demographics	Donor 1	Donor 2	Donor 3	Donor 4
Sex	F	М	F	F
Age	33	35	25	28
Race/Ethnicity	Asian/Non- Hispanic	White/Non- Hispanic	White/Non- Hispanic	White/Non- Hispanic
Medications	None	None	Yes*	None

*Medications taken by Donor 3 were listed and were not found to have any impact on immune cells or immune function.

TABLE 1: Donor Information

CHAPTER 4.3: ADCVI Assay

To determine the effect of antibodies and monocytes on viral yield, antibody alone, antibody+ monocytes, and the indicated control conditions were incubated with infected VeroE6 cells. Overall, the results showed a significant reduction in viral load with antibody alone compared to controls (P=0.027), but there was greater reduction when antibody and monocytes were combined (FIGURE 5)



Log(10) of Viral Load

FIGURE 5: COVA1-18 combined with monocytes lowers viral yield from infected cells. Error bars represent standard deviations.



FIGURE 6: ADCVI assay results vary between donors. Virus yield is shown for each of the four monocyte donors under the conditions tested.

Variability in viral yield for each condition was noted between individual monocyte donors

(FIGURE 6).



FIGURE 7: Combining mAb and monocytes resulted in reduced viral yield for each of the four donors.

On average, virus yield was 0.67 logs lower with COVA1-18 + monocytes compared to COVA1-18 alone (p=0.01, T-test on paired samples; FIGURE 7, TABLE 2). Compared to monocytes alone, COVA1-18 + monocytes reduced viral yield by 1.4 logs (p=0.004). Finally, COVA1-18+ monocytes reduced viral yield by 1.6 logs compared to the virus alone (i.e., with no mAb or monocytes; p=0.007).

Paired T-tests	P-value	R-squared	Mean of Differences	SD of Differences
Anti-S mAB + Monocytes vs. Anti-S mAB	0.03	0.81	-0.68	0.37
Anti-S mAB + Monocytes vs. Monocytes	0.004	0.96	-1.46	0.36
Anti-S mAB + Monocytes vs. Virus	0.0073	0.93	1.67	0.51

TABLE 2: Statistical analysis of ADCVI assay results. P-values are not corrected for multiple comparisons.

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION

We found that the combination of mAb and monocytes significantly reduced viral yield from infected cells when compared to mAb alone, to monocytes alone, or when neither mAb nor monocytes were present. The reduction of .67 logs when mAb+ monocytes and mAb alone are compared may be modest, but is consistent with the requirement for effector cell activity to impact viral yield from infected cells.

Few studies have focused on primary monocytes and how they interact with mAB in the presence of SARS-CoV-2. The ADCVI assay measures the effect of antibody and effector cell functions in reducing viral yield. Since combining antibody and monocytes results in more significant reductions in viral yield than antibodies or monocytes alone, enhancing interactions between antibody and monocytes could help improve the efficacy of monoclonal antibody therapies. Increasing interactions can be accomplished by mutating the Fc region of the antibody to increase engagement between Fc and FcγRs. Thus, using antibodies with mutations in the Fc fragment that increase binding to Fc receptors may further increase mAb efficacy in the clinical setting.

Although we showed a substantial decrease in the viral yield of infected cells in the presence of antibodies and monocytes, SARS-CoV-2 can infect primary monocytes. One study demonstrated that about ten percent of blood monocytes can become infected by SARS-CoV-2 via the FcγRs (43). However, once infected, the monocytes undergo pyroptosis and do not replicate the virus (43).

14

Limitations of this study included only testing one SARS-CoV-2 variant (Washington Strain)_a one neutralizing mAB (COVA1-18), and no polyclonal antibodies. Additional neutralizing and non-neutralizing antibodies should be evaluated using other virus strains to provide a more comprehensive analysis. Another limitation of this study is the target cell type chosen. VeroE6 cells, which are of non-human primate origin, were used, whereas other cells of human origin, including HEK293TACE2 and Calu3 cell types may be more relevant. However, Vero E6 cells are frequently used for most SARS-CoV-2 assays and proved to be adequate for our study. Finally, we used a small number of monocyte donors in the ADCVI assay. Pilot studies of this nature often begin with few donors to determine the effect size (44,45). However, monocyte function is expected to vary between individuals and additional donors should be tested to confirm our findings. However, we expect the SD will likely not increase substantially, based on the slight variation seen between the SD's of the four donors tested.

It is of interest to determine the precise mechanisms that underlie the decrease in viral yield between COVA1-18 and COVA1-18+monocytes. We predict that ADCC, ADCP, the production of soluble substances (cytokines and chemokines), or all three are important mechanisms. Additionally, in-vivo experiments would determine if the effect size shown in this study scales to more complex conditions. Future studies will also test multiple SARS-CoV-2 variants, multiple mAbs, antibodies in blood produced by COVID-19 patients with varying disease severity, and multiple effector cell types, including but not limited to neutrophils and NK cells. Using multiple target cell types, including HEK293TACE2 and Calu3 cells would also be of interest.

15

REFERENCES:

- 1. Edouard Mathieu, Hannah Ritchie, Lucas Rodés-Guirao, Cameron Appel, Charlie Giattino, Joe Hasell, Bobbie Macdonald, Saloni Dattani, Diana Beltekian, Esteban Ortiz-Ospina and Max Roser (2020) - "Coronavirus Pandemic (COVID-19)". Published online at OurWorldInData.org. Retrieved from: 'https://ourworldindata.org/coronavirus'
- Ahmed S. Keshta a, et al. "Covid-19 versus SARS: A Comparative Review." Journal of Infection and Public Health, Elsevier, 24 Apr. 2021, www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1876034121001003.
- 3. "SARS." *Centers for Disease Control and Prevention*, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 6 Dec. 2017, www.cdc.gov/SARS/index.html.
- 4. Lamers, M.M., Haagmans, B.L. SARS-CoV-2 pathogenesis. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 20, 270–284 (2022). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-022-00713-0</u>
- Boyton, R.J., Altmann, D.M. The immunology of asymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infection: what are the key questions?. *Nat Rev Immunol* 21, 762–768 (2021). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-021-00631-x</u>
- 6. ASYMPTOMATIC SARS-COV-2 Infection: A Systematic Review and Meta ..., www.pnas.org/doi/10.1073/pnas.2109229118.
- Pormohammad A, Ghorbani S, Khatami A, Farzi R, Baradaran B, Turner DL, Turner RJ, Bahr NC, Idrovo JP. Comparison of confirmed COVID-19 with SARS and MERS cases -Clinical characteristics, laboratory findings, radiographic signs and outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Rev Med Virol. 2020 Jul;30(4):e2112. doi: 10.1002/rmv.2112. Epub 2020 Jun 5. PMID: 32502331; PMCID: PMC7300470.
- 8. "Clinical Spectrum." *National Institutes of Health*, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, www.covid19treatmentguidelines.nih.gov/overview/clinical-spectrum/.
- Salamanna, Francesca, et al. "Body Localization of Ace-2: On the Trail of the Keyhole of SARS-COV-2." *Frontiers*, Frontiers, 16 Nov. 2020, www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed.2020.594495/full.
- V'kovski, P., Kratzel, A., Steiner, S. *et al.* Coronavirus biology and replication: implications for SARS-CoV-2. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 19, 155–170 (2021). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-020-00468-6</u>
- 11. Ogletree, Martin L., et al. "Treatment of Covid-19 Pneumonia and Acute Respiratory Distress with Ramatroban, a Thromboxane A2 and Prostaglandin D2 Receptor Antagonist: A Four-Patient Case Series Report." *Frontiers*, Frontiers, 15 June 2022, www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2022.904020/full.

- Li, K., Huang, B., Wu, M. *et al.* Dynamic changes in anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies during SARS-CoV-2 infection and recovery from COVID-19. *Nat Commun* 11, 6044 (2020). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-19943-y</u>
- Long, QX., Liu, BZ., Deng, HJ. *et al.* Antibody responses to SARS-CoV-2 in patients with COVID-19. *Nat Med* 26, 845–848 (2020). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-0897-1</u>
- 14. Li Q, Wang Y, Sun Q, Knopf J, Herrmann M, Lin L, Jiang J, Shao C, Li P, He X, Hua F, Niu Z, Ma C, Zhu Y, Ippolito G, Piacentini M, Estaquier J, Melino S, Weiss FD, Andreano E, Latz E, Schultze JL, Rappuoli R, Mantovani A, Mak TW, Melino G, Shi Y. Immune response in COVID-19: what is next? Cell Death Differ. 2022 Jun;29(6):1107-1122. doi: 10.1038/s41418-022-01015-x. Epub 2022 May 17. PMID: 35581387; PMCID: PMC9110941.
- Primorac D, Vrdoljak K, Brlek P, Pavelić E, Molnar V, Matišić V, Erceg Ivkošić I, Parčina M. Adaptive Immune Responses and Immunity to SARS-CoV-2. Front Immunol. 2022 May 4;13:848582. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.848582. PMID: 35603211; PMCID: PMC9114812.
- 16. Takahashi M, Ai T, Sinozuka K, Baba Y, Igawa G, Nojiri S, Yamamoto T, Yuri M, Takei S, Saito K, Horiuchi Y, Kanno T, Tobiume M, Khasawneh A, Paran FJ, Hiki M, Wakita M, Miida T, Suzuki T, Okuzawa A, Takahashi K, Naito T, Tabe Y. Activation of SARS-CoV-2 neutralizing antibody is slower than elevation of spike-specific IgG, IgM, and nucleocapsid-specific IgG antibodies. Sci Rep. 2022 Sep 1;12(1):14909. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-19073-z. PMID: 36050347; PMCID: PMC9436163.
- Maisonnasse, P., Aldon, Y., Marc, A. *et al.* COVA1-18 neutralizing antibody protects against SARS-CoV-2 in three preclinical models. *Nat Commun* 12, 6097 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-26354-0
- Pinto, D., Park, YJ., Beltramello, M. *et al.* Cross-neutralization of SARS-CoV-2 by a human monoclonal SARS-CoV antibody. *Nature* 583, 290–295 (2020). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2349-y</u>
- 19. *The Distribution and Functions of Immunoglobulin Isotypes*, PMCID: PMC10250970. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK27162/.
- Lee WS, Selva KJ, Davis SK, Wines BD, Reynaldi A, Esterbauer R, Kelly HG, Haycroft ER, Tan HX, Juno JA, Wheatley AK, Hogarth PM, Cromer D, Davenport MP, Chung AW, Kent SJ. Decay of Fc-dependent antibody functions after mild to moderate COVID-19. Cell Rep Med. 2021 Jun 15;2(6):100296. doi: 10.1016/j.xcrm.2021.100296. Epub 2021 May 9. PMID: 33997824; PMCID: PMC8106889.
- Masselli E, Vaccarezza M, Carubbi C, Pozzi G, Presta V, Mirandola P, Vitale M. NK cells: A double edge sword against SARS-CoV-2. Adv Biol Regul. 2020 Aug;77:100737. doi: 10.1016/j.jbior.2020.100737. Epub 2020 Jun 13. PMID: 32773100; PMCID: PMC7292949.

- Chen X, Rostad CA, Anderson LJ, Sun HY, Lapp SA, Stephens K, Hussaini L, Gibson T, Rouphael N, Anderson EJ. The development and kinetics of functional antibodydependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) to SARS-CoV-2 spike protein. Virology. 2021 Jul;559:1-9. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2021.03.009. Epub 2021 Mar 19. PMID: 33774551; PMCID: PMC7975276.
- Bouayad A. Multifaceted roles of Fcγ receptors in COVID-19 and vaccine responses. Am J Transl Res. 2023 May 15;15(5):3040-3059. PMID: 37303668;
- Pyzik M, Kozicky LK, Gandhi AK, Blumberg RS. The therapeutic age of the neonatal Fc receptor. Nat Rev Immunol. 2023 Jul;23(7):415-432. doi: 10.1038/s41577-022-00821-1. Epub 2023 Feb 1. PMID: 36726033; PMCID: PMC9891766.
- 25. Ginhoux, F., Jung, S. Monocytes and macrophages: developmental pathways and tissue homeostasis. *Nat Rev Immunol* 14, 392–404 (2014). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3671</u>
- 26. Wilk AJ, Rustagi A, Zhao NQ, Roque J, Martínez-Colón GJ, McKechnie JL, Ivison GT, Ranganath T, Vergara R, Hollis T, Simpson LJ, Grant P, Subramanian A, Rogers AJ, Blish CA. A single-cell atlas of the peripheral immune response in patients with severe COVID-19. Nat Med. 2020 Jul;26(7):1070-1076. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0944-y. Epub 2020 Jun 8. PMID: 32514174; PMCID: PMC7382903.
- 27. Yu, Y., Wang, M., Zhang, X. *et al.* Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity response to SARS-CoV-2 in COVID-19 patients. *Sig Transduct Target Ther* 6, 346 (2021). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-021-00759-1</u>
- Bournazos, S., Gupta, A. & Ravetch, J.V. The role of IgG Fc receptors in antibodydependent enhancement. *Nat Rev Immunol* 20, 633–643 (2020). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-020-00410-0</u>
- Sondermann P, Pincetic A, Maamary J, Lammens K, Ravetch JV. General mechanism for modulating immunoglobulin effector function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013 Jun 11;110(24):9868-72. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1307864110. Epub 2013 May 22. PMID: 23697368; PMCID: PMC3683708.
- Mackin, S.R., Desai, P., Whitener, B.M. *et al.* Fc-γR-dependent antibody effector functions are required for vaccine-mediated protection against antigen-shifted variants of SARS-CoV-2. *Nat Microbiol* 8, 569–580 (2023). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-023-01359-1</u>
- Castro Dopico X, Ols S, Loré K, Karlsson Hedestam GB. Immunity to SARS-CoV-2 induced by infection or vaccination. J Intern Med. 2022 Jan;291(1):32-50. doi: 10.1111/joim.13372. Epub 2021 Aug 5. PMID: 34352148; PMCID: PMC8447342.
- Nimmerjahn, F., Ravetch, J. Fcγ receptors as regulators of immune responses. *Nat Rev Immunol* 8, 34–47 (2008). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2206</u>

- 33. Vietzen H, Danklmaier V, Zoufaly A, Puchhammer-Stöckl E. High-affinity FcγRIIIa genetic variants and potent NK cell-mediated antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) responses contributing to severe COVID-19. Genet Med. 2022 Jul;24(7):1449-1458. doi: 10.1016/j.gim.2022.04.005. Epub 2022 Apr 30. PMID: 35488894; PMCID: PMC9055393.
- 34. Junqueira, C., Crespo, Â., Ranjbar, S. *et al.* FcγR-mediated SARS-CoV-2 infection of monocytes activates inflammation. *Nature* 606, 576–584 (2022). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-04702-4</u>
- 35. Adeniji OS, Giron LB, Purwar M, Zilberstein NF, Kulkarni AJ, Shaikh MW, Balk RA, Moy JN, Forsyth CB, Liu Q, Dweep H, Kossenkov A, Weiner DB, Keshavarzian A, Landay A, Abdel-Mohsen M. COVID-19 Severity Is Associated with Differential Antibody Fc-Mediated Innate Immune Functions. mBio. 2021 Apr 20;12(2):e00281-21. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00281-21. Erratum in: mBio. 2021 Jun 29;12(3):e0124421. PMID: 33879594; PMCID: PMC8092230.
- 36. Lee WS, Selva KJ, Davis SK, Wines BD, Reynaldi A, Esterbauer R, Kelly HG, Haycroft ER, Tan HX, Juno JA, Wheatley AK, Hogarth PM, Cromer D, Davenport MP, Chung AW, Kent SJ. Decay of Fc-dependent antibody functions after mild to moderate COVID-19. Cell Rep Med. 2021 Jun 15;2(6):100296. doi: 10.1016/j.xcrm.2021.100296. Epub 2021 May 9. PMID: 33997824; PMCID: PMC8106889.
- 37. Delorey, T.M., Ziegler, C.G.K., Heimberg, G. *et al.* COVID-19 tissue atlases reveal SARS-CoV-2 pathology and cellular targets. *Nature* 595, 107–113 (2021). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03570-8</u>
- 38. Knoll R, Schultze J L and Schulte-Schrepping J (2021) and Macrophages in COVID-19. Front.Immunol.12:720109. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2021.720109
- Golay J, Andrea AE, Cattaneo I. Role of Fc Core Fucosylation in the Effector Function of IgG1 Antibodies. Front Immunol. 2022 Jun 30;13:929895. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.929895. PMID: 35844552; PMCID: PMC9279668.
- Merad M, Martin JC. Pathological inflammation in patients with COVID-19: a key role for monocytes and macrophages. Nat Rev Immunol. 2020 Jun;20(6):355-362. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0331-4. Epub 2020 May 6. Erratum in: Nat Rev Immunol. 2020 Jun 2;: PMID: 32376901; PMCID: PMC7201395.
- Schultze JL, Aschenbrenner AC. COVID-19 and the human innate immune system. Cell. 2021 Apr 1;184(7):1671-1692. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2021.02.029. Epub 2021 Feb 16. PMID: 33743212; PMCID: PMC7885626.
- Cheung CY, Poon LL, Ng IH, Luk W, Sia SF, Wu MH, Chan KH, Yuen KY, Gordon S, Guan Y, Peiris JS. Cytokine responses in severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirusinfected macrophages in vitro: possible relevance to pathogenesis. J Virol. 2005 Jun;79(12):7819-26. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.12.7819-7826.2005. PMID: 15919935; PMCID: PMC1143636.

- 43. Junqueira C, Crespo Â, Ranjbar S, Lewandrowski M, Ingber J, de Lacerda LB, Parry B, Ravid S, Clark S, Ho F, Vora SM, Leger V, Beakes C, Margolin J, Russell N, Kays K, Gehrke L, Adhikari UD, Henderson L, Janssen E, Kwon D, Sander C, Abraham J, Filbin M, Goldberg MB, Wu H, Mehta G, Bell S, Goldfeld AE, Lieberman J. SARS-CoV-2 infects blood monocytes to activate NLRP3 and AIM2 inflammasomes, pyroptosis and cytokine release. Res Sq [Preprint]. 2021 Aug 11:rs.3.rs-153628. doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-153628/v1. Update in: Nature. 2022 Jun;606(7914):576-584. PMID: 34401873; PMCID: PMC8366805.
- 44. Dugast AS, Stamatatos L, Tonelli A, Suscovich TJ, Licht AF, Mikell I, Ackerman ME, Streeck H, Klasse PJ, Moore JP, Alter G. Independent evolution of Fc- and Fab-mediated HIV-1-specific antiviral antibody activity following acute infection. Eur J Immunol. 2014 Oct;44(10):2925-37. doi: 10.1002/eji.201344305. Epub 2014 Aug 11. PMID: 25043633; PMCID: PMC4311770.
- 45. Williams KL, Cortez V, Dingens AS, Gach JS, Rainwater S, Weis JF, Chen X, Spearman P, Forthal DN, Overbaugh J. HIV-specific CD4-induced Antibodies Mediate Broad and Potent Antibody-dependent Cellular Cytotoxicity Activity and Are Commonly Detected in Plasma From HIV-infected humans. EBioMedicine. 2015 Oct;2(10):1464-77. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2015.09.001. PMID: 26629541; PMCID: PMC4634620.